
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO 

 
John and Karin Waldrop as parents and 
legal guardians of B.W., The Arc of New 
Mexico as legal guardians and next 
friends of S.K. and L.D., Lynda and 
Joseph Petros as grandparents and legal 
guardians of A.J., Daniel and Blanca 
Sarabia as parents and legal guardians of 
D.S., Lynette Jaramillo as parent and 
legal guardian of A.C., Doris Johnson as 
parent and legal Guardian of C.J., 
Sharranna  and Richard Friedman as 
parents and legal guardians of S.F., 
Disability Rights New Mexico and the Arc 
of New Mexico  

       
  Plaintiffs,      CV- No. 
  
v. 
             
NEW MEXICO HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT; 
NEW MEXICO DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH; 
SIDONIE SQUIER, Secretary, New Mexico  
Human Services Department, in her official capacity;   
RETTA WARD, Secretary,  
New Mexico Department of Health, in  
her official capacity; CATHY STEVENSON, Director,  
Developmental Disabilities Supports Division of the  
New Mexico Department of Health, in her official  
capacity;  
 
  Defendants. 
 
 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  
 
1. This is an action seeking to enjoin the New Mexico Department of Health (“DOH”) and 

the New Mexico Human Services Department (“HSD”), and senior officials of DOH and HSD, 
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from violating the rights of New Mexicans with developmental disabilities who are enrolled in 

the State’s Home and Community Based Waiver program for people with developmental 

disabilities (“the DD Waiver”). 

2. Persons with disabilities who are being served by the New Mexico Medicaid Program 

and have been injured by the reduction or termination or program services bring this action for 

declaratory and injunctive relief alleging violation of the following federal laws and 

Constitutional provisions: the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396-1396w, the Americans 

with Disabilities Act 42 U.S.C §12132, The Rehabilitation Act, § 504(a), 29 U.S.C. §794(a) and 

the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution.  Finally, the persons bringing this action allege that the state regulations imposed 

by HSD violate federal regulations, including 42 CFR 431.220. 

3. The Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims under 28 U.S.C. §§1331, 28 U.S.C. 

§1343 (a) (3) and 42 U.S.C. §1983, which together grant this Court original jurisdiction in all 

actions to address the abridgement of rights granted by the United States Constitution, Acts of 

Congress, or Federal Agencies acting with Congressional authority. 

4. Venue is proper because all of the events giving rise to this action occurred within the 

state of New Mexico and all of the Defendants may be found there.  28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1). 

5. Defendants have recently overhauled the entire DD Waiver program, and have informed 

individual Plaintiffs, their guardians and family, and others like them that the DD Waiver 

benefits that they have been receiving are being greatly reduced, beneath the floor established by 

Plaintiffs' treating physicians and other treating professionals.  Despite prior determinations by 

the State of New Mexico that the levels of benefits currently received by Plaintiffs are medically 
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necessary to ensure their health and safety, Plaintiffs' benefits will now be reduced pursuant to a 

formula called the Supports Intensity Scale (“SIS”).  These reductions violate the procedural and 

substantive standards established by the federal Medicaid Act.  

6. Defendants’ use of the SIS results in DD Waiver participants being assigned to a group 

that determines the type and amount of services each individual will receive.      

7. In 2012, the New Mexico Legislature recognized the serious flaws in the application of 

the SIS tool, as implemented by DOH and HSD.  In response, the Legislature passed Senate Bill 

458, which required HSD to apply to the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) to 

“reestablish the provisions of the state developmental disabilities home and community based 

services waiver that were in existence as of June 1, 2011.” 

8. Governor Susanna Martinez vetoed the legislation, causing DOH and HSD to continue 

with the implementation of the SIS tool.  

9. Plaintiffs are not challenging the SIS tool per se.  Rather, Plaintiffs are challenging the 

Defendants’ use and application of the SIS tool in a manner which violates federal law and 

denies Plaintiffs due process. 

10. This action seeks to enjoin Defendants from operating the DD Waiver program by using 

the SIS tool in a manner that arbitrarily denies people with developmental disabilities essential 

Medicaid-funded services.  The Defendants are utilizing regulations, policies, standards, and 

practices, and taking actions that violate federal law and deny DD Waiver participants due 

process of law.  Plaintiffs seek to have Defendants operate the DD Waiver system in a manner 

that remedies the legal and constitutional violations noted herein.  
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 I. PARTIES 

The Individual Plaintiffs for whom relief is sought in this action are identified as follows: B.W., 

S.K., L.D., A.J., D.S., A.C., S.F., and C.J. 

11. B.W., a resident of Albuquerque, is a 44-year-old man with diagnoses of autism and 

mental retardation.  His parents John and Karin Waldrop are his guardians.  B.W. has been 

assigned to SIS group B.  

12. B.W. was allocated to the DD Waiver in 1999 and has received supported living (24-hour 

care) since that time.  His intellectual functioning is at the level of a 5 to 8-year old.  He needs 

assistance with almost all activities of daily living.  B.W. cannot speak in complete sentences, 

nor can he read, write or tell time.  He has no mathematical skills and cannot recognize numbers 

past nine.  B.W. has difficulty with personal hygiene and is not always capable of dressing 

himself properly for the weather outside.  He is unable to use home appliances or prepare himself 

a meal beyond pouring out cereal and adding milk. 

13. B.W. cannot purchase and pay for groceries, or ride a bus independently.  In an 

emergency, B.W. would be unable to tell the 911 dispatcher his address.  Because B.W. gets 

confused when anything in his life changes, a bus schedule change or even an unexpected day 

off at work can result in B.W. wandering away from supervision and getting lost in Albuquerque.  

B.W. is entirely unable to manage his health care or any medications. 

14. The plan for B.W.’s services and supports is reflected each year in an Individual Support 

Plan (“ISP”) that is designed by the Inter-Disciplinary Team (“IDT”) of B.W.’s direct care 

providers, therapy providers, medical providers, and B.W.’s family.  The current ISP provides 

that B.W. reside in an ARCA supported living group home where he receives supported living, 
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case management, day habilitation, supported employment, occupational therapy, and speech and 

language therapy services.  If B.W. is limited to the services provided by his Group B budget, he 

will no longer receive residential services and will be required to live independently.  His IDT 

will be forced to cut all but one therapy from the list of services that B.W. receives.  B.W. is also 

at risk of losing the job coach provided to him by the waiver, a reduction in services that is likely 

to result in the termination of his employment. 

15. S.K. is a 38-year-old man who lives in Las Cruces.  He has a guardian with the Arc of 

New Mexico.  S.K. has been assigned to SIS group C.  When S.K. was allocated to the DD 

Waiver in 1992, Defendants determined he was eligible for 24-hour care as a prerequisite for 

enrolling him in the DD Waiver program, and have authorized residential services for him ever 

since.  S.K. is diagnosed with Prader-Willi Syndrome, a type of eating disorder and fragile 

diabetes.  The diabetes is the result of the Prader-Willi diagnosis, which is characterized by 

eating all types of food and inedible objects endlessly, including garbage and toxic materials.  

Persons with Prader-Willi can eat themselves to death.  S.K. has eloped many times in search of 

food, and has entered restaurants on his own and ordered large meals that he could not pay for.  

Eating in this manner can cause S.K.’s blood sugar levels to a range as high as 400 and as low as 

19 in a single day, and without taking a level, it can be difficult to tell what his blood sugar really 

is.  He often exhibits no signs of illness.  The range in blood sugar levels can affect S.K.’s mood, 

cognition, memory, understanding and gait.  In addition to attempting to elope and wandering in 

his home, he often eats secretly, causing his blood sugar to become lower or higher late at night. 

16. The plan for S.K.’s services and supports is reflected each year in an ISP, which is 

designed by an IDT of his direct care providers, therapy providers, medical providers, and his 
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Arc guardian.  S.K. receives 24-hour residential supports and has staff who check on him 

throughout the night.  He attends day habilitation and receives behavioral support consultation.  

He receives more hours for nursing than many other individuals.  He receives the assistance of a 

nurse or trained staff to ensure that his blood sugars do not become dangerously low or high.  

Because of the constant fluctuation of his blood sugar, and S.K.’s inability to demonstrate 

control over his eating, he requires close supervision by staff at all times.  SL receives speech 

and language therapy designed to monitor his eating and address the risk of aspiration caused by 

Prader-Willi Syndrome. 

17. Although SIS Group C permits 24-hour residential supports, it limits an individual to one 

therapy (PT, OT or SLP) and permits only some behavioral supports consultation, far less than 

S.K. needs to remain safe.  Placement in a C group means he will lose the intensive staffing in 

his home and in the community to insure his eating and his blood sugars are controlled.  His 

behavioral support hours will decrease and training and support for staff will be reduced.  

18. L.D. is a 35-year-old woman who lives in Los Lunas.  She resides in a home operated by 

the Los Lunas Community Program, the state’s community residential services agency.  She 

receives services with funding from the DD waiver.  L.D. has had a guardian with The Arc of 

New Mexico since 1999, when her father and step-mother asked for assistance with her 

guardianship from the state.  When L.D. was allocated to the DD Waiver, Defendants had 

determined she was eligible for 24-hour care as a prerequisite for enrolling her in the DD Waiver 

program, and has authorized residential services for her ever since.  She as been assigned to SIS 

group C.  L.D. has diagnoses of mild mental retardation, depression, atypical Prader-Willi 

syndrome, diabetes, seizures and fracture of the right hip with hip replacement.  Atypical Prader-
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Willi syndrome (PWS) is a type of eating disorder where an individual will seek food and eat 

edible and inedible items endlessly unless stopped by others; she could eat herself to death.  

L.D.’s syndrome is atypical because she does not possess the genetic marker typical of PWS. 

19. L.D.’s array of diagnoses manifest themselves not only in medical symptoms from 

seizures and diabetes, but also in multiple behavioral and psychiatric episodes.  She can become 

violent and aggressive if she is denied food, and will hit, kick, scratch and bite.  In 2007, she 

slipped in the shower and broke her hip.  Despite significant pain, she stood and walked on the 

hip to get food and did more damage, resulting in the need for an emergency hip replacement.  

Even in a cast, she was difficult to keep still and required constant 2:1 supervision during 

recovery to prevent another fracture and dislocation. 

20. L.D.’s services and supports are reflected each year in an ISP, which is designed by an 

IDT of her direct care providers, therapy providers, medical providers, case manager and 

guardian.  L.D.’s plan requires that she receive one-to-one supervision in order to manage her 

constant food-seeking, and a controlled structured environment with locked cabinets and limited 

discussion about food.  In addition to being aggressive and violent towards others, L.D. can be 

self-injurious and will bite herself and pull on electrical cords in an attempt to shock herself; as a 

result, she requires constant supervision.  She receives multiple services, therapies and supports.  

L.D. has awake staff at night to insure she does not get up and seek food, a nurse to monitor her 

medical needs closely, physical therapy services to assist with her gait, speech therapy to monitor 

her eating and swallowing, and intensive behavioral programming to insure that she is healthy 

and safe in her home and in the community. 
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21. A.J. is a 22-year-old woman who is a resident of Santa Fe.  She is the grandchild of 

Lynda and Joseph Petros, who are also her guardians.  Lynda has taken the role of primary 

caregiver for her granddaughter.  A.J. has been assigned to SIS group B.  When A.J. was 

allocated to the DD Waiver, which her guardians believe was approximately four years ago, 

Defendants determined she was eligible for 24-hour care as a prerequisite for enrolling her in the 

DD Waiver program, and has authorized residential services for her ever since.  A.J. has a 

diagnosis of Williams-Beuren Syndrome, which includes characteristics such as intellectual 

disability and associated medical and behavioral problems.  She has cardiovascular and 

respiratory difficulties, weak and “gummy muscles”, continuous back aches as well as other 

physical ailments.  A.J takes medication to treat anxiety and depression.  

22. The plan for A.J.’s services and supports is reflected each year in an ISP, which is 

designed by an IDT of A.J.’s therapy providers, medical providers, her respite provider, and her 

grandparents.  A.J. receives family living services.  Prior to her placement in SIS Group B, she 

received occupational therapy, speech and language therapy, and behavior support consultant 

services.  After Defendants assigned A.J. to SIS group B, A.J. was required by the B score to 

lose a therapy.  Although her team did not believe it in her best interest, to comply with the 

requirements of the B score, A.J. lost her speech and language therapy and also suffered 

drastically reduced respite services.  Defendants did not tell A.J.’s guardians that she could 

request a continuation of these services under the H category. 

23. Defendants led the guardians to believe that the B group required them to seek A.J.’s 

behavior services through private insurance.  A.J.’s family living services will terminate at the 

end of her ISP year.  Defendants did not provide specific instructions about the directive that A.J. 
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should transition from her current residential services.  Defendants have not provided Lynda 

Petros with information about how such a transition should be made, or where A.J. will live even 

though the “transition” should in theory, already be in progress.  Defendants advised the 

guardians that she does not need to be concerned about losing family living services because A.J. 

can apply for “H” in a year.  However, this does not reassure her guardians, who have no reason 

to believe that an H application will resolve the service reductions that are resulting from the B 

score.  Furthermore, the guardians believe the score is inaccurate.  A.J.’s guardians fear for her 

safety and long-term health and well-being due to the B score, as she has always lived with her 

family, needs constant supervision to remain safe, and needs all the services that she previously 

received under the DD Waiver. 

24.   D.S. is a 43-year-old man residing in Albuquerque who is receiving services through the 

DD waiver program.  Mr. and Mrs. Sarabia are D.S.’s guardians.  D.S. has been assigned to SIS 

group B.  He has diagnoses of Mental Retardation, Autism and Diabetes, and needs continual 

supervision and assistance to address concerns involving the completion of necessary daily tasks 

(hygiene, dressing, self-care, among others) and to address safety concerns.  D.S. tends to 

wander away from community environments when left unsupervised, including the habit of 

wandering at his place of employment. 

25. When D.S. was allocated to the DD Waiver in 2001, Defendants determined he was 

eligible for 24-hour care as a prerequisite for enrolling him in the DD Waiver program, and 

Defendants have authorized family living services for him since that time.  The plan for 

D.S.’s services and supports is reflected each year in ISP, which is designed by an IDT of D.S.’s 

direct care providers, therapy providers, medical providers, and parents, who are his guardians. 
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With the support of DD Waiver services, D.S. has been able to live in the community rather than 

an Intermediate Care Facility for persons with Mental Retardation (“ICF/MR”1).  D.S. has been 

able to successfully maintain the same job for 14 years with the assistance of a job coach 

provided by the DD Waiver.  The assignment to SIS group B means that D.S. will lose his job 

coach, and will not be able to continue this job or obtain any other employment. He will also lose 

the family living services that currently enable him to reside within the community. These 

reductions are occurring even though D.S.’s needs have not diminished and his treating 

professionals continue to prescribe his current services. 

26. A.C. is the 23-year-old daughter of Lynette Jaramillo, who is also her guardian.  She has 

diagnoses of Down syndrome and moderate mental retardation.  A.C. has been assigned to SIS 

group B.  A.C. lives at home with her mother.  She cannot cook, use the telephone to make 

appointments, or call 911 during an emergency.  She would be vulnerable if left alone, as she 

would not hesitate to open the front door if a stranger knocked.  A.C.’s mother must brush her 

teeth, bathe her, and comb her hair.    

27. The plan for A.C.’s services and supports is reflected each year in an ISP, which is 

designed by an IDT of A.C. s therapy providers, medical providers, and her mother.  The team 

has determined that A.C. is incapable of living in an independent environment without full time 

24/7 support; as a result, she receives family living services in addition to case management, 

speech and language therapy, and occupational therapy. 

                                                 
1  Both the Center for Medicaid and Medicare Services and the Plaintiffs in the action believe that the term Intensive 
Care Facility for Persons with Intellectual Disabilities (“ICF/IDD”) is a term that is far preferable to and more 
appropriate than the term “ICF/MR” However, “ICF/MR” is the term currently used in all of the federal regulations 
that are applicable to this complaint, and so it is reluctantly utilized herein. 
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28. If forced to remain in SIS group B, A.C.’s IDT will be forced to eliminate one of her 

therapy services.  A.C. would also be left without adequate supervision, putting her health and 

safety in jeopardy.    

29. C.J. is a 41-year-old woman born with neonatal hypoglycemia, resulting in severe 

convulsions at birth.  C.J. has a developmental age ranging between 2 years and 7 months to 9 

years and 3 months.  She also has a diagnosis of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.  She has 

received Behavioral Support Services, Occupational Therapy, Speech and Language Therapy, 

and Physical Therapy Services on an ongoing basis since 2004.  

30. C.J.  had two SIS assessments, each resulting in a SIS score of “D.”  Because she has 

been assigned to the D group, she will lose either OT, SLP or PT services.  Her IDT made an H 

application requesting that all of C.J.’s therapies continue at the level and frequency that she has 

been receiving them since 2004; that H application is still being considered by the state.  The 

IDT strongly believes that reducing any one of her therapies would have a severe impact on C.J., 

particularly behaviorally. 

31. S.F. is a 23-year-old woman with a diagnosis of intellectual impairment.  Although she is 

able to do some basic activities such as grooming, she requires supervision and prompting for 

almost all activities of daily living.  S.F. has been placed in SIS Group B.  S.F. is not able to do 

more complicated or potentially dangerous activities--such as cooking--without the assistance of 

her family.  Her mother and father, Sharranna and Richard Friedman, currently serve as S.F.’s 

family living providers.  

32. S.F.’s disability creates major concerns about her daily health and safety.  She has 

difficulty communicating in a way that is intelligible to others and understanding the actions of 
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those who communicate with her.  This lack of understanding makes her vulnerable in situations 

that take place in the community and in the home.  According to her parents, S.F. would let 

anyone in their front door if they simply asked. 

33. Her intellectual impairment has also caused significant behavioral difficulties; S.F. has a 

history of acting out in a negative way.  Throughout her time in school, she received a one-on-

one aid and other services designed to assist her and her teachers in managing behavioral issues 

after numerous negative incidents occurred.  Even with extensive support, S.F. will engage in 

detrimental behavior such as smearing her feces on the bathroom wall.  In a recent incident 

where her behavioral therapist left her unattended for a few minutes during a session, S.F. used a 

candle to start a fire in the therapist’s office.  

34. S.F. has been receiving DD Waiver services that ameliorate her disability and provide for 

her daily health and safety needs since the age of nine.  Since her enrollment in the DD Waiver 

program, she has received speech therapy to assist her in communication with others.  At the age 

of 18, S.F. began receiving 24-hour family living services provided by her parents.  This intense 

supervision is necessary so that someone is there to assist her with activities of daily living and 

monitor and prevent destructive behavior.  If left unchanged, the SIS Group B placement will 

drastically reduce the Speech and Language Therapy available to S.F., while eliminating the 

family living services that keep her healthy and safe. 

35. Disability Rights New Mexico and The ARC of New Mexico ("Organizational 

Plaintiffs") have associational standing in this matter, and bring this suit on behalf of their 

constituents who are Medicaid recipients enrolled in the DD Waiver.  Both organizations 
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represent numerous constituents who have developmental disabilities and who participate in 

New Mexico’s Medicaid funded DD Waiver program.  

36. Disability Rights New Mexico (“DRNM”) is a private, non-profit organization whose 

mission is to protect, promote and expand the rights of persons with disabilities.  DRNM is the 

designated Protection and Advocacy System for New Mexico, and has authority under federal 

law to pursue legal, administrative and other remedies on behalf of persons with disabilities.  

Additionally, Congress has specifically given DRNM both the responsibility and the 

authorization  to initiate legal action designed to protect the rights of persons with developmental 

disabilities as the designated Protection and Advocacy System for the state of New Mexico.  42 

U.S.C. §§ 15001.  The ARC of New Mexico is a community based organization of and for 

people with intellectual and developmental disabilities.  The mission of the ARC is to improve 

the quality of life for persons with developmental disabilities through advocacy on their behalf.  

In addition, the ARC provides corporate guardianship services for individuals throughout the 

state of New Mexico.  Many of these individuals are participants in the DD Waiver program.  

37. Defendant New Mexico Human Services Department (“HSD”) has been designated as 

the “single state agency” directly responsible for the administration and supervision of New 

Mexico’s Medicaid program under Title XIX of the Social Security Act 42 U.S.C. § 1396 (a)(5).  

HSD has its principal place of business in Santa Fe, New Mexico. 

38. Defendant Sidonie Squier is the Secretary of HSD and is responsible for all 

administrative, policy, budgetary and personnel matters for HSD.  She is responsible for making 

and adopting regulations to carry out HSD’s duties, none of which can be implemented without 

her approval.  As the Secretary of the single state Medicaid agency, she is responsible for 
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managing all Medicaid moneys.  In addition, Secretary Squier is responsible for adopting rules or 

regulations that govern the administration of Medicaid funded programs, and she adopted the DD 

Waiver regulations issued November 1, 2012.  NMSA 1978, § 9-8-6.  Secretary Squier also is 

responsible for the Medical Assistance Division of HSD, which makes the final administrative 

decision in Medicaid fair hearings.  Defendant Squier’s place of business is in Santa Fe, New 

Mexico.  Defendant Squier is sued in her official capacity.  

39. Defendant New Mexico Department of Health (“DOH”) is responsible inter alia for 

supervising the health and hygiene of New Mexico’s citizens, including the day to day oversight 

of the services provided under the DD Waiver.  At all times relevant to this action, DOH 

exercised operational management of the DD Waiver.  DOH has its principal place of business in 

Santa Fe, New Mexico.   

40. Defendant Retta Ward is the Secretary of DOH and is responsible for all administrative, 

policy, budgetary and personnel matters for the New Mexico Department of Health.  This 

authority includes the policies and practices which result in the funding of, placement in, and 

maintenance of persons with developmental disabilities such as the individual Plaintiffs in the 

Medicaid DD Waiver program, using Medicaid funds.  Further, she is responsible for the 

direction, supervision and control of the Developmental Disabilities Services Division, which 

designs and implements the services to all persons with developmental disabilities in the state of 

New Mexico.  Defendant Ward’s place of business is in Santa Fe, New Mexico.  Defendant 

Ward is sued in her official capacity. 

41. HSD has delegated to DOH and Defendant Ward significant responsibility concerning 

the implementation of the SIS system in the state of New Mexico. 
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42. Defendant Cathy Stevenson is the Director of DOH’s Developmental Disabilities 

Supports Division (“DDSD”) for individuals with intellectual/developmental disabilities.  As 

such, she directs all programs, services and supports provided for individuals with intellectual 

and developmental disabilities.  She became the Division Director in 2011.  She is one of the 

principal architects of the current DD Waiver program and has issued numerous policies, 

memoranda and directives regarding the SIS.  She is named as the State Operating Agency 

Representative for DOH in the Defendant’s application for the current DD Waiver submitted to 

the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services.  She has been directing the 

implementation of the current DD waiver.  Defendant Stevenson’s place of business is in Santa 

Fe, New Mexico.  Defendant Stevenson is sued in her official capacity. 

II. Background 

43. The DD Waiver is a Medicaid program designed to provide vital Medicaid-funded 

services to people with developmental disabilities.  

44. In 1981, Congress authorized the Home and Community Based Services ("HCBS") 

waiver system, due to the disproportionate percentage of Medicaid resources being used for 

long-term institutional care.  The program allows Medicaid-eligible individuals with 

developmental disabilities who are entitled to receive residential care in a Medicaid-funded 

ICF/MR to instead receive their services outside of an ICF/MR, so long as the aggregate cost of 

the program is no greater than the aggregate cost of serving the same people in institutional 

settings.  42 CFR § 440.150.  
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45. To obtain authorization to operate a HCBS waiver, a state must apply to the U.S. 

Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”).  Each HCBS Waiver is time limited, 

requiring renewal every three to five years. 

46. The purpose of the Medicaid program is to ensure that persons with limited income or 

specific qualifying conditions receive necessary medical services.  This medical assistance 

program is funded by both the federal and state government.  42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a. 

47. A state’s participation in the Medicaid Program is voluntary.  Once a state elects to 

participate, it must follow program requirements mandated by the federal government.  New 

Mexico has elected to participate in the Medicaid program.  States who choose to participate 

must administer Medicaid “in the best interests of recipients.”  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(19). 

48. In 1983, New Mexico applied to HHS to start a HCBS Waiver for people with 

developmental disabilities in the state, and HHS authorized approximately 200 “slots” for the 

initial three year period.  By fiscal year 2008, the number of people in the program reached 3,777 

and there has been little change in the number of people in New Mexico’s DD Waiver program 

since that time.   

49. In March 2011, the State sought to fundamentally change the HCBS Waiver program by 

substantially reducing per person expenditures.  The goals of the changes included: making the 

program “cost effective”, decreasing recipients’ “dependence on paid supports”, developing a 

new “resource allocation model”, and “improving the management of costs.” 

http://www.health.state.nm.us/ddsd/resourcesupportbureaupublications/DDW/DDWaiverRenewa

lUpdate.htm  
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50. The Defendants’ justification for establishing the SIS system and instituting the related 

changes to the DD Waiver was the Defendants’ assertion that too much money was being spent 

on the people in the DD Waiver program.  That justification is erroneous. 

51.  In other states, many of the people with severe disabilities still reside in institutions, 

while those with less severe disabilities are enrolled in the state’s Waiver program.  In contrast, 

New Mexico closed two large segregated institutions in the 1990’s, resulting in a number of  

individuals with high needs living in the community with the assistance of services provided by 

Medicaid.  New Mexico’s average cost for those on the DD Waiver is higher than the national 

average because the majority of this high needs population is now served by the DD Waiver.  

52. Beginning in 2011, the Defendants began to disclose to the public their plans for 

fundamentally altering the methods used to administer the DD Waiver program in New Mexico.  

Draft revised regulations were issued by HSD, and formal regulations were adopted effective 

November 1, 2012. 

53. Throughout 2012, DOH issued several different publications setting forth various, and 

often highly inconsistent information concerning when and how DOH would implement the 

proposed fundamental changes to the DD Waiver.   

54. In May of 2013, the Defendants implemented the November 2012 Medicaid regulations 

adopted by HSD to operate the DD Waiver program, under the direction of HSD Secretary 

Sidonie Squier.   

55. Pursuant to these regulations, the SIS is now being used to determine the services that 

each waiver participant will receive.  Since the adoption of the November 2012 regulations, it is 

the only tool used by the defendants to allocate services among DD Waiver participants. 
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56. The SIS system has thus far been used to evaluate most DD Waiver recipients throughout 

the state.  At this time, approximately 700 of those individuals are contesting or have contested 

the accuracy of the SIS Group to which they have been assigned.  

57. The SIS groups are lettered A-G, with Group A being those with the most minimal needs 

under the Waiver.  Group F is for people with extraordinary medical needs and Group G is for 

people with the most substantial behavioral needs. Please see Exhibit 1. 

58. Each lettered SIS group has a specified limited base budget for services that cannot be 

exceeded.  All of the DD Waiver participants in a given SIS Group have the same base budget 

even though their individual medical needs often vary significantly.  DD Waiver recipients 

assigned to Group A through G are also permitted to apply for a Category H designation. 

59. The SIS is supposed to be administered according to a particular protocol.  That protocol 

requires the SIS evaluator to meet with a minimum number of people from the Waiver 

participant’s support system, including the individual DD Waiver participant to the extent 

possible, a direct care provider who works with the participant on a daily basis, someone 

representing the community supports (day services) provider, the guardian and/or family 

members.  The interview is supposed to be in a place convenient to the participant and those 

providing information.   

60. Group H is supposed to be utilized by participants who encounter extenuating 

circumstances or have extreme needs that cannot be met by the service package allowed for 

people assigned to Group A through G.  Category H cannot change a participant’s group 

designation or existing base budget; it can only serve to temporarily graft additional services 

onto the existing base budget for their assigned group. 
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61. A DD Waiver participant’s group assignment directly determines the type and duration of 

the Medicaid services they will receive.  This assignment is the product of a SIS evaluation, 

where the answers to a number of questions about the needs of the participant are scored by a 

SIS interviewer.  This evaluation is the sole basis for a participant’s group assignment; no 

consideration of any other factor affecting the individual is viewed by defendants as relevant 

when allocating Medicaid services using the New Mexico SIS system.  

62. Within this base budget, residential support services will not be available to DD Waiver 

participants who are not placed in the higher needs groups.  This termination of 24-hour 

residential support services will require many DD Waiver participants who have been receiving 

extensive supports to attempt to live independently by May 2014.  Many DD Waiver participants 

are protesting their SIS scores because they and the professionals who provide their care do not 

believe that they are capable of living independently. 

63. Under the new system, ancillary therapies and supports such as speech and language, 

occupational and physical therapy services as well as supported employment, are being cut for 

the substantial majority of DD Waiver participants.  The majority of base budgets under the SIS 

system only allow for a maximum of two ancillary therapies to be provided, meaning that many 

individuals receiving physical, speech, and occupational therapy must choose which therapy to 

eliminate in accordance with what their base budget will allow.  The ancillary therapies that are 

not eliminated from a participant’s budget are often subject to significant cuts in service, 

providing the participant with a reduced number of therapy hours per year.    

64. These eliminations and reductions are contrary to the previous determination made by 

treatment professionals and by the Defendants that these services are medically necessary.    
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65. Category H is designed to provide additional services to those participants who have been 

assigned a SIS group that has a base budget that is insufficient to meet their health and safety 

needs.  However, the Defendants are not using Category H properly.  There are no written 

criteria anywhere concerning the steps a participant needs to take in order to receive an H 

designation.  Defendants have failed to inform DD Waiver participants, including Plaintiffs, how 

to apply for an H designation, or what specific services that designation can be used for.  

66. The New Mexico DD Waiver Group H Policy issued by Defendant DOH treats Category 

H as if it is a SIS Group distinct from Groups A-G.  In fact, Category H can only be used to 

supplement the base budget of a participant’s assigned SIS Group.  The Defendants have not 

made it clear to the majority of participants, including Plaintiffs, that an H designation cannot 

change the base budget mandated by their group assignment.   

67. Organizational Plaintiffs have encountered many complaints and reports of confusion 

concerning the H system, and have received conflicting statements from the Defendants and their 

employees concerning how that system is supposed to function.  To date, none of the DD Waiver 

recipients assisted by the organizational Plaintiffs have successfully been granted Group H 

status.   

68. Before the November 2012 Medicaid DD Waiver regulations were implemented, a 

participant’s IDT would meet to determine what services should be provided to the participant.  

The IDT, which includes the individual DD Waiver participant to the extent possible, the 

guardian and/or family, direct care providers for residential care and day services, therapists 

providing ancillary therapies and other services to the participant, medical professionals and the 
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case manager, would meet with the participant and decide what DD Waiver Services should go 

into the budget for the coming year. 

69. To determine the annual budget, the IDT took into account input from the participant, the 

participants’ medical and treatment professionals, day and residential care providers, and their 

own notes and observations from working with that individual.  These teams were not 

constrained by a base budget; instead, they based their requests for services on what the 

participant actually needed rather than a pre-determined financial cap.  

70. The IDT process was able to ensure that the individual needs of each participant was 

fully considered, and were met.  This approach is consistent with the federal mandate to develop 

a participant centered service plan. 

71. Although the authors of the SIS recommend using two objective instruments and input 

from the IDT for developing ISPs, the Defendants are only using the SIS tool to decide what 

services a DD Waiver participant should receive.  The recommendations from a participant’s 

IDT members, past services or supports received, and input from treating medical professionals 

are ignored.  Once the SIS evaluation is completed, each waiver participant is placed in a group.  

Each group has a base budget for services and the number and hours of therapies and services 

available.  

72. Approximately one third of the people who have been assigned a SIS Group have been 

assigned to Group A or B.  As a result, they face the loss of their 24-hour residential services, 

leaving a substantial number of these individuals without adequate supports to protect them from 

harm.  Further, an assignment to Group A or B will often result in the loss or substantial 

reduction of speech and language, occupational, and/or physical therapy services. 
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73. The termination of residential services and therapeutic supports would deny DD Waiver 

participants the services that the State itself previously determined to be medically necessary, 

even though the individual participant’s need for those services has not changed. 

74. The loss of residential supports and other services is contrary to the judgment of the 

licensed professionals who were retained by the State in past years to determine which medically 

necessary services and therapies those Medicaid recipients required. 

III. GENERAL PLAINTIFF CLAIMS 

75.   Each Individual Plaintiff named herein is receiving services through the New Mexico 

Developmental Disabilities Waiver. 

76. The organizational Plaintiffs represent and/or advocate for persons receiving those DD 

Waiver services.  

77. Each SIS group has limitations concerning the amount of ancillary therapies (including 

speech and language, physical, and occupational) available for each individual participant.  

78. Due to the manner in which the Defendants use the SIS tool, some individual Plaintiffs, 

and many DD Waiver recipients represented by the organizational Plaintiffs, have already lost 

some medically necessary services and therapies.  

79. Others will lose therapies and residential placements previously available to them under 

the DD Waiver at the expiration of their most recent ISP.  

80. Some DD Waiver participants SIS group scores are subject to a “verification process”, 

which is not published and its methods are unknown to individual Plaintiffs. 

81. Each SIS evaluation contains supplemental questions that, if answered in the affirmative, 

allow an evaluator to make further inquiries about an area where a participant might need 
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additional support.  These additional inquires can lead to a score that will place an individual in a 

higher needs SIS Group, but only if the initial supplemental questions are answered properly.  

82. Because of the Defendants’ failure to properly implement and administer the H Category, 

multiple Plaintiffs and other Medicaid participants have experienced confusion and delay 

concerning the H process.  

83. Many Medicaid DD waiver participants have been unable to access the H process, even 

when it is desperately needed to safeguard their health and safety. 

84.  Following the Defendants’ decision to systematically reduce medically necessary 

services using the SIS tool, the individual Plaintiffs and other DD Waiver participants did not 

receive proper notice that these reductions had occurred.   

85. In some cases, DD Waiver recipients received no actual notice of a reduction to their 

Medicaid services. 

86. During the SIS evaluation process the Defendants use an algorithm to determine a 

participant’s SIS score.  However, the details of the algorithm are not disclosed to the DD 

Waiver participant.  

87. During the SIS evaluation process, the Defendants ask supplemental questions when 

determining SIS Group assignments.   

88. In all known cases where a notice was received, the notice provided did not contain the 

legal or factual bases for the reduction, an explanation of how the SIS system operates, or a 

proper explanation of the recipients’ appeal rights as required by federal law.  Without that 

information, Plaintiffs and DD Waiver participants are unable to meaningfully contest reductions 

in their services.  
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89. Federal regulations provide that a Medicaid participant has a right to utilize the fair 

hearing process as a means to challenge any action by HSD.  Both state and federal law mandate 

that a recipient be permitted a “fair hearing” to contest “any action affecting his or her claim for 

Medicaid funded services.”  42 CFR § 431.206(c)(2) and 211.  (Emphasis added).  

90. Federal regulations provide that participants are allowed to avail themselves of a fair 

hearing whenever the participant alleges that services were denied, reduced, or not acted upon 

with reasonable promptness.  42 CFR § 431.220(a)(1). 

91. The constitutional right to due process includes the right to adequate notice prior to any 

termination or reduction of Medicaid benefits, meaningful participation in a benefit termination 

hearing, and continued benefits pending a pre-determination hearing.  42 CFR § 431.205(d); 42 § 

CFR 431.230. 

92. The regulations, adopted by HSD in November 2012 to enable the Department of Health 

to roll out the new DD Waiver, directly contradict these federal and state mandates by 

significantly narrowing the right to challenge any erroneous action made by Defendants.  

93. The new regulations limit appeals related to the SIS to two issues: First, a recipient may 

appeal if he or she alleges that the standard procedures for conducting a SIS assessment are not 

“substantially followed” by the person conducting it.  The regulations adopted by HSD do not 

allow a participant to challenge the assigned SIS Group; all an individual is allowed to do is to 

challenge whether the SIS tool was administered properly.  8.314.5.18 NMAC(A)(2).  

94. Second, the new hearing regulations imposed by HSD only allow a DD Waiver 

participant to contest the service package provided by the assigned SIS group if it does not 

adequately meet the participant’s health and safety needs.  8.314.5.18 NMAC(A)(3).  The federal 
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regulations governing fair hearings do not limit participants to appeals that concern their health 

and safety.  By law, DD Waiver participants have a right appeal any decision concerning their 

Medicaid services that they believe is erroneous.  42 CFR § 431.206(c)(2) and 211.    

95. Further, under 8.314.5.18 NMAC(A)(3) a challenge to a service package on the basis of 

health and safety can only be made after a budget allowable within the assigned SIS group is 

submitted and rejected.  42 CFR § 431.206(c)(2) and 211 contain no restriction concerning when 

an adverse Medicaid decision can be appealed.  The available base budget is determined as soon 

as the SIS Group Assignment is made.  The group assignment is an action directly affecting a 

participant’s Medicaid services, and federal law requires that such an action be immediately 

appealable.  

96. In order to comply with federal and state statutes and regulations, all DD Waiver 

participants must be allowed to contest their group designation because it is an “action affecting 

his or her claim” for Medicaid funded services.  42 CFR § 431.206(c)(2) and 211. 

97. Federal regulations require that individuals must receive coverage of a service “sufficient 

in amount, duration and scope to achieve its purpose.”  42 CFR § 440.230(b).  The Medicaid 

services provided for each participant must be outlined in a written plan that is centered on the 

needs of that individual.  42 CFR § 441.301(b)(1)(i).  

98. If the participant believes the DD Waiver services offered through the assigned SIS group 

are not sufficient in amount, duration or scope, federal law grants the right to contest the group 

assignment which limits the Medicaid Waiver service.  42 CFR § 431.220(a)(2); 42 CFR § 

431.201.  
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99.  Because each individual is restricted by the base budget in their group and additional 

services are supposed to be provided by a Group H process that is not functioning, a participant 

centered plan that meets the unique health and safety needs of each individual is not possible.     

100. A Medicaid participant who has been receiving services that have previously been 

deemed medically necessary cannot have those services reduced absent a change in condition.  

Plaintiffs and others on the DD Waiver are having essential services reduced based on the SIS 

group assignment rather than a proper assessment of their individual health and safety needs.  

These actions violate federal law.   

101. The SIS process has become the sole tool for allocating services among DD Waiver 

participants.  The standards utilized by the SIS are vague, arbitrary, and are based upon an 

algorithm that is not explained to participants or their service provider.   

102. The Defendants’ SIS program is not individualized, as the SIS evaluation does not 

adequately take into account input from the participant’s IDT or physician if it differs from the 

result of the SIS assessment. 

103. A hearing officer is required to ensure that participants who appeal reductions in their 

Medicaid services have an opportunity to present all relevant evidence during the fair hearing.  

8.352.2.14 B(1)(c) NMAC.  Numerous Plaintiffs have asked the hearing officer to compel the 

attendance at hearing of witnesses who are involved in the SIS process, including the SIS 

evaluator.  Plaintiffs wish to examine these witnesses concerning their qualifications as a SIS 

evaluator and how the SIS interview process occurred.  Under the regulations implemented in 

November 2012, challenging whether the SIS interview was properly conducted is one of the 

few ways that a participant is allowed to appeal a reduction in services by the SIS tool. 
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104. New Mexico hearing officers have not issued any subpoenas or other request that these 

persons testify before them during fair hearing proceedings.  The hearing officers encountered by 

Plaintiffs assert that they do not have the power to do so.  The Plaintiffs are not aware of any 

instance where a SIS evaluator has testified at a Medicaid hearing in this state. 

105. These actions by Defendants are continual, knowing, and violate the Medicaid Act, The 

United States Constitution, and other federal and state laws. 

IV. CLAIMS SPECIFIC TO NAMED PLAINTIFFS 

106. B.W. had two SIS assessments and was assigned to SIS Group B.  In this group, B.W. 

will lose supported living services, supported employment, and will lose either occupational 

therapy or speech and language therapy.  He was assigned to Group B even though the 

professionals on B.W.’s IDT detailed at the second SIS that B.W. is incapable of living in an 

independent environment without 24/7 support.  B.W.’s IDT agreed that this reduction in 

supported living will be detrimental to his health and safety.  

107. The assignment to SIS Group B means that B.W. will lose occupational therapy.  His 

speech and language therapy will be reduced from 58 hours to 30 hours per year.  B.W.’s IDT 

agrees that it is medically necessary for him to receive the hours of therapy available to him 

under the previous waiver.  

108. B.W. did not have a meaningful opportunity to contest these reductions in his services.  

The Department of Health notice reducing B.W.’s services by placing him in SIS Group B states 

that a fair hearing can only be requested to challenge the process and does not state that B.W. can 

challenge the SIS score or his group assignment.  The notice also does not state how or why 
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B.W. was placed in SIS Group B.  Further, the notice does not state that B.W. will lose his 

critical residential care because of his SIS score.  

109. The Department of Health used an arbitrary evaluation process that did not truly include 

individualized review of B.W.’s needs for services and did not consider a reasonable 

accommodation. 

110. During the fair hearing contesting B.W.’s placement in SIS Group B, counsel for the 

New Mexico Department of Health argued that the hearing officer does not have the authority to 

determine if DOH violated federal regulations and New Mexico state law when it assigned B.W. 

to his SIS Group.  The Department further argued that these questions could only be addressed 

through an appeal to District Court. 

111. Acceptance of this argument would render the fair hearing process useless for B.W. and 

similarly situated DD Waiver participants who wish to challenge their SIS score or any other 

adverse decision concerning Medicaid services. 

112. On December 11, 2013, B.W. received the fair hearing decision in the case contesting his 

B score.  The hearing officer found in favor of the Department and upheld B.W.’s placement in 

SIS Group B.  The decision contained no indication that the hearing officer considered B.W.’s 

arguments or made any attempt to address the issue of whether he had the power to decide that 

the Department had breached federal law when deciding what Medicaid services would be 

available to B.W. 

113. S.K.’s SIS was held on August 3, 2011 and he received a DD waiver category B.  S.K’s 

SIS was held during the pendency of a pilot SIS program in 2011.  The IDT was not notified of 

the result until 2012.  The case manager had understood that the SIS would not count because it 
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was part of the pilot program evaluating the SIS tool.  When the guardian learned of the SIS 

score, she requested another SIS assessment.  She was told that she could not have another SIS 

because it had been too long since the initial assessment.  This determination violated S.K.’s due 

process rights since the guardian is not allowed to take the step of requesting another assessment, 

nor can she appeal the score that he was given because of the lapse of time. 

114. The Department of Health used an arbitrary evaluation process that did not truly include 

an individualized review of S.K.s needs for services and did not consider a reasonable 

accommodation. 

115. L.D. has been assigned to SIS group C.  Although SIS group C will allow L.D. to receive 

residential services, she will be allowed to receive only one therapy service (OT, PT or SLP); 

and it will require that the remaining therapy services be faded and ultimately discontinued.  She 

will be able to keep some behavioral therapy services; however, her behavioral support 

consultation services will decrease and she will lose the intensive training of staff that her 

previous Medicaid service package provided.  Group C will not allow L.D. to receive any 

enhanced staffing, a vital service she has had in place for 6 years and has kept her healthy and 

safe with fewer intensive behavioral incidents.   

116. A.J. has gone through two SIS evaluations, one in December 2011 and the other in June 

2013.  Each time the outcome was a B score.  As a result of the SIS score of B, A.J. will lose 

family living services and will be expected to live independently.  A.J., however, is completely 

incapable of living on her own.  Without adequate notice of the reductions, the guardian has not 

been afforded a meaningful opportunity to dispute the reductions.  Although the guardian 
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received notice of the SIS scores, A.J.’s guardian did not receive information that sufficiently 

explained the Department’s rationale for its determination that A.J. should lose these services. 

117. Furthermore, the guardian does not recall ever having received a notice of fair hearing.  

Consequently, on the date of the hearing, the guardian did not know the number to call for the 

hearing and did not know that there was documentary information she needed to submit to the 

Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) before the hearing.  In addition, the guardian did not have 

adequate information to understand the fair hearing process.  She did not know what the 

Summary of Evidence she received by mail was.  She believed the ALJ would have the 

substantial volume of medical and other information A.J.’s case manager had submitted to the 

Department for A.J.’s SIS evaluation.  The SOE did not include information submitted by A.J.’s 

team to the Department for the SIS evaluation.  The ALJ did not see or hear about important 

documentary evidence. 

118. Although the hearing officer allowed the guardian and A.J.’s case manager to speak, each 

time one of them would point the hearing officer’s attention to A.J.’s individual needs, someone 

from DOH then referred the hearing officer to a portion of the Summary of Evidence that 

described something about the SIS.  That would end the discussion of individual needs.  Ms. 

Petros did not understand DOH’s reference to exhibits from the Summary of Evidence.  She did 

not understand how the DOH points were responsive to her concerns, and she did not know how 

to get her concerns across to the hearing officer. 

119. The guardian did not understand how to make her arguments during the fair hearing.  She 

felt confused and unable to respond to information presented by the Department that she believed 

did not make sense and that was not responsive to her concerns for A.J.’s needs. 
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120. The Department of Health used an arbitrary evaluation process that did not truly include 

individualized review of A.J.’s needs for services and did not consider a reasonable 

accommodation. 

121. D.S.’s first SIS assessment took place on August 10, 2011 and placed him in SIS group 

B. Believing that this group did not account for or provide a budget sufficient to meet their son’s 

needs, the Sarabias requested a second assessment.  That assessment took place on January 17, 

2013 and again resulted in an assignment to SIS group B. 

122. The family of D.S. was present for each of his SIS assessments.  Mr. and Mrs. Sarabia 

had difficulty understanding the questions being asked by the evaluator.  The family became 

tired during the second SIS evaluation, as it lasted four hours without a break.  They felt some 

pressure to answer questions they did not comprehend because of pressing matters concerning 

their son’s physical needs that arose during the evaluation.  Specifically, D.S. has diabetes and 

requires that his meals be prepared regularly to maintain his blood sugar.  As the evaluation was 

prolonged and ran into the dinner hour, D.S. became increasingly agitated and insistent that the 

meal he needed be prepared.  The Sarabias felt pushed by the need to conclude the evaluation 

and make dinner for their son.  Over the course of the assessment, the evaluator did not 

accurately take their answers into account. 

123. The family of D.S. asked for a fair hearing.  At the hearing, the Defendants prevented the 

Sarabia family from raising this issue of whether the budget provided under SIS group B would 

meet D.S.’s needs.  

124. Mr. and Mrs. Sarabia both testified that they believed that the package allowed by group 

B would not provide their son the support he requires to meet his daily health and safety needs.   
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125. At the hearing, HSD employees testified that the issue of whether D.S.’s service package 

under SIS Group B met his needs could not be addressed, because he had not yet submitted a 

budget under that group assignment.  

126. According to the testimony presented by HSD, the only issue that could be appealed at 

the fair hearing was whether the SIS assessment was conducted properly.  The hearing officer 

agreed, noting in the final decision that she decided the case based upon whether or not the SIS 

interview process was done correctly. 

127. The Department of Health used an arbitrary evaluation process that did not truly include 

individualized review of D.S.’s needs for services and did not consider a reasonable 

accommodation.  

128. Under the mandated Group B budget, D.S. will lose his job coach and his family living 

services. D.S and his family applied for additional services under Category H.  On November 25, 

2013 that request was denied by DOH, citing insufficient documentation showing the need for 

additional services.  There is no written policy that would guide a family or caregiver concerning 

how to use the H application process. 

129. A.C.  had her first SIS assessment on February 14, 2013.  She received a score of 25 and 

was assigned to SIS Group B, which means that A.C. will lose family living services and will 

receive reduced hours for speech and language therapy and will lose occupational therapy.  

A.C.’s mother, who is also her guardian, requested a second SIS assessment for A.C.  This 

assessment again assigned A.C. to SIS Group B.  Her mother reviewed the scores on the second 

SIS with A.C’s case manger and determined that they were not recorded properly.  She requested 
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and obtained a review of the second assessment.  After that review AC received a score of 28, 

but a SIS score of 31 is required for SIS Group D and 24-hour residential services.   

130. The DOH staff person who participated in this review knew that only the SIS domains of 

A, B and E would be used to determine the total SIS score.  A.C.’s mother did not.  If the SIS 

domains of C, D and F were used to determine A.C’s total SIS score, she would have received a 

score of 35 and easily be in SIS Group D.  

131. DOH’s letter after the review of the second SIS assessment did not provide notice of the 

availability of a fair hearing, or a rationale for the reduction of services.  It states that A.C.’s SIS 

score changed as a result of the informal re-evaluation, but her group assignment to “Group B” 

remained the same, “using the standard algorithm applied to your daughter’s revised SIS 

results.”  DOH did not provide this algorithm in A.C.’s summary of evidence.  The notice then 

refers the guardian to New Mexico regulatory authority, 8.314.5 NMAC.  The notice strongly 

suggests that only the accuracy of the SIS scores can be challenged, that the accuracy has now 

been challenged and reviewed, and that the scores have been readjusted accordingly and cannot 

be challenged on any other basis.  

132. A.C. is unable to prepare a defense based on this letter.  She was assigned to SIS group B 

without full time residential services based on an arbitrary mathematical formula.  DOH used an 

arbitrary evaluation process that did not do any individualized review of A.C.’s needs for 

services and therefore could not even consider a reasonable modification.  

133. C.J. has been receiving occupational, speech and language, and physical therapy through 

the DD Waiver since 2004.  Her IDT believes that C.J. needs all three therapies in order to 

safeguard her health and safety and meet her daily support needs.  
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134. After two SIS assessments, she has been assigned to Group D.  The base budget for SIS 

Group D will not cover the three therapies that C.J. requires; without an increased budget for 

services or an H designation she will lose all but one of the therapies deemed necessary by the 

treatment professionals on her IDT. 

135. C.J.’s team made an H application requesting that all of her therapies continue at the level 

and frequency that she has been receiving them since 2004.  The H committee contacted the case 

manager to insist that the team had “to prioritize” one of the therapies, and to amend their 

application such that the team would only be requesting one therapy to continue.  C.J.’s DD 

Waiver case manager was informed that if the IDT did not revise the H application, DDSD said 

it would terminate the team’s application and not review it.  The IDT submitted C.J.’s H 

application, and it is under review by the Defendants at this time. 

136. The Department of Health used an arbitrary evaluation process that did not truly include 

individualized review of C.J.’s needs for services and did not consider a reasonable 

accommodation. 

137. S.F. has had two SIS evaluations; both evaluations placed her in SIS Group B. This result 

occurred even though her IDT clearly told the SIS evaluator that S.F. needed both Speech and 

Language Therapy and 24-hour supervision through family living services at the same level she 

had received them under her previous budget.  Under SIS Group B, family living services will 

not be available to S.F., and her speech therapy will be greatly reduced.  S.F.’s family and IDT 

team adamantly believe that the absence of these services will compromise her health and safety.  

S.F. requested a fair hearing asking that her SIS Group assignment be reconsidered.  On 
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November 12, 2013, HSD approved the hearing officer’s decision to uphold S.F.’s placement in 

Group B. 

138. Because the services available under the Group B budget are not sufficient, S.F.’s IDT 

team submitted a Category H application to the state in an effort to receive additional services.  

S.F.’s H application was denied. 

 

V. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of the Medicaid Act Fair Hearing Requirements 
 

139. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.   

140. As a state participating in the federal Medicaid program, HSD, and the State's Medicaid 

administrators, including the individual Defendants, must comply with federally mandated 

Medicaid standards.  42 U.S.C. § 1396a. 

141. Every state participating in the Medicaid program must develop a fair hearing system that 

meets the due process standard set forth in Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1970) and codified 

in 42 CFR § 431.205(d). 

142. Under federal law, a Medicaid recipient must be granted the opportunity for a fair hearing 

to contest any action affecting his or her claim for Medicaid funded services.  A participant in a 

medical assistance program may request a fair hearing if a service has been denied, delayed, or 

the beneficiary believes any action has been taken erroneously.  42 CFR § 431.220(a)(2).  

(Emphasis added).  The right to a fair hearing applies to any situation where the recipient alleges 
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that services were denied or nor acted upon with reasonable promptness.  42 U.S.C § 

1396a(a)(3); 42 CFR § 431.220(a)(1). 

143.  Pursuant to applicable New Mexico regulations, HSD must grant an administrative 

hearing if a recipient believes that HSD has taken an action erroneously or a service is 

terminated, modified, reduced, suspended or denied.  8.352.2.10 (A) and (B) NMAC (Emphasis 

added).  See also 8.100.970.9(C)(1)(a-e) NMAC.  

144. The November 1, 2012 regulations adopted by Defendant Squier and the actions taken 

pursuant thereto by Defendants Ward, Stevenson, and other employees of HSD and DOH 

concerning the utilization and implementation of the SIS system violate state and federal law by 

significantly restricting the circumstances under which a Medicaid participant is entitled to a fair 

hearing when their services are denied, delayed, suspended or not acted upon with reasonable 

promptness. 

145. In the cases where argument concerning a participant’s needs are permitted during the 

fair hearing process, the Defendants seek to further restrict what a participant can tell the hearing 

officer by arguing that the hearing officer does not have the authority to determine if the 

Department violated federal regulations and New Mexico state law when it assigns participants 

to a SIS Group.  According to the Department, these issues can only be resolved through an 

appeal to district court. 

146. The Department’s argument that their apparent violations of federal regulations cannot be 

challenged in a fair hearing directly contradicts the assurances it made to the Centers for 

Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), stating that the Department would abide by federal law 

in the administration of the DD Waiver (Application for a §1915(c) Home and Community-
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Based Services Waiver pp. 7, 132-133).  It also renders the fair hearing process meaningless for 

DD Waiver participants who wish to challenge their SIS score or any other adverse decision 

concerning Medicaid services. 

147. The Department has made this argument in numerous fair hearings attended by 

Organization Plaintiff DRNM, including the fair hearing concerning named Plaintiff B.W.  The 

decisions resulting from these fair hearings provide no indication that the hearing officer 

considered the arguments put forward by Medicaid participants, or made any attempt to address 

the issue concerning whether the Department had violated federal law when deciding what 

Medicaid services would be available through the SIS process.  New Mexico courts have 

consistently held that an administrative ruling is arbitrary and capricious if the agency fails to 

adequately consider crucial portions of the case before it.   

148. The regulations, policies, and practices governing the SIS process employed by the 

Defendants violate the fair hearing rights of the Plaintiffs and all DD Waiver participants 

guaranteed by the Medicaid Act.  

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 Violation of the Procedural Due Process Clause of the  
Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution 

 
149. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.  

150. Plaintiffs bring this claim against Defendants Squier, Ward, and Stevenson in their 

official capacities.  

151. The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment mandates that states must provide 

program participants with due process of law before Medicaid benefits are denied, reduced or 

terminated.  The constitutional right to due process includes the right to adequate notice prior to 
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any termination of Medicaid benefits, meaningful participation in a benefit termination hearing, 

and continued benefits pending a pre-termination hearing as set forth in Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 

U.S. 254 (1970); 42 CFR § 431.205(d). 

152. The November 1, 2012 regulations adopted by Defendant Squier and the actions taken by 

Defendants Ward, Stevenson and other employees of DOH and HSD violate the requirements set 

forth under federal law by failing to provide New Mexico Medicaid participants with actual or 

adequate notice describing the reasons for changes in benefits and their rights to a fair hearing. 

The notice requirements for due process are listed in federal regulations at 42 CFR § 431.210.  In 

order to comply with federal law and Due Process requirements, the denial notice must include 

the reasons for the proposed action, the specific regulations that support the proposed action, or 

the change in Federal or State law that requires the action. 

153. The denial notices provided to DD Waiver participants by the Defendants do not meet the 

requirements set forth under 42 CFR § 431.210. 

154. HSD specifically bound itself to follow 42 CFR § 431.210 in the DD waiver application 

it submitted to CMS.  HSD stated: “The State provides notice of action as required by 42 CFR § 

431.210.”  (Application for a §1915(c) Home and Community-Based Services Waiver pp. 7 and 

132). 

155. Defendants have failed to provide DD Waiver recipients a meaningful opportunity to be 

heard at a fair hearing to challenge the assignment to a SIS Group which mandates reduction in 

services.  The Summary of Evidence provided to the claimant by the Defendant in advance of 

each hearing fails to provide essential information about how the SIS works, including an 

explanation for the algorithm that determines each SIS score, and DD Waiver service standards 
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which explain the SIS interview process.  Without this information, and without the reasons for 

reduction being set forth in each summary of evidence, the participant cannot meaningfully 

object to any service reduction examined at a fair hearing. 

156. The policies and procedures concerning the SIS system implemented by Defendants 

Ward and Stevenson also violate the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution by denying New 

Mexico Medicaid participants adequate timely notice of and an opportunity for meaningful 

participation in a fair hearing prior to the reduction, termination, or change of previously 

authorized Medicaid services. 

157. Although Plaintiffs are entitled by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 

to a hearing prior to the loss of their benefits, Defendants have denied Plaintiffs and others like 

them with the fundamental rights inherent in a fair pre-deprivation hearing. 

158. The November 1, 2012 regulations, as well as the policies, standards and practices 

employed by Defendants related to the SIS, violate the rights of Plaintiffs guaranteed by the Due 

Process Clause of the 14th Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 Violation of the Medicaid Act and Due Process Guarantees 
by Using Arbitrary Standards and Failing to Use Ascertainable Standards 

 
159. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.  

160. In order to comply with the substantive Due Process Clause of The Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution, a State Medicaid program must use reasonable, 

ascertainable, and non-arbitrary standards and procedures for determining participant eligibility 

for any medical services provided.  Those standards must also be applied when determining the 

nature and amount of those services.  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(17). 
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161. Due Process requires an individualized process where the needs of a participant are taken 

into account before the allocation of services, rather than the arbitrary system of caps and 

reductions mandated by the contested regulations and employed by defendants.  Federal 

regulations are clear that individuals must receive coverage of a service “sufficient in amount, 

duration and scope to achieve its purpose.”  42 CFR § 440.230(b). 

162. The SIS tool uses vague, subjective and arbitrary criteria and procedures for allocating 

Medicaid funds amongst Medicaid recipients.  The result is the imposition of arbitrary limits on 

the amount and type of services provided to recipients.   

163. Defendants use a “verification process” which is not published, which is conducted 

without any formal rules, and that is arbitrary and capricious.  Defendants do not give Plaintiffs 

notice of the standard used to “verify” the SIS score.  Often, the verification is conducted 

secretly and Defendants do not inform DD Waiver recipients that it has been conducted.  The 

verification process can result in a changed SIS score or SIS group. 

164. Once a participant is placed into a particular SIS group, they are tied to a limited base 

budget and menu of available services without regard to individual medical need.  The 

establishment of those limited service packages which reduce and/or terminate services that 

people with severe disabilities have been receiving will have a harmful and disparate impact 

upon people with severe disabilities. 

165. The Defendants are using the SIS evaluation as the only standardized tool for evaluating 

each participant’s need for Medicaid services.  There is no room in the evaluation matrix utilized 

by the Defendants for input from a participant’s physician or IDT, and such input is being 

ignored by the SIS process. 
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166. There are no discernible standards for the denial of benefits through the SIS other than 

the State's goal of reducing DD Waiver benefits across the State.  The denial of benefits therefore 

violates the substantive Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  

167. Because of its arbitrary limits on services and lack of attention to individual participant 

needs, the SIS system implemented by the Defendants violates Due Process rights guaranteed by 

the federal Constitution and Medicaid regulations. 

 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Defendants Violated the New Mexico Rule Making Procedures and the  
New Mexico Administrative Procedures Act 

 
168. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.   

169. The New Mexico Administrative Procedures Act requires that proposed changes made to 

regulations during the rulemaking process must be disclosed to the public.  NMSA 1978, § 12-8-

4. 

170. Several important provisions that were set forth in the final SIS regulations adopted by 

HSD in November 2012, including the verification process, the SIS interview procedures and the 

“algorithm” for assigning people to SIS Groups, were completely absent from the draft 

regulation that was made available to the public for review.  

171. Further, important safeguards set forth in the draft regulations were eliminated without 

any prior explanation or notice to the plaintiffs or the public regarding the deletion.   

172. The failure of Secretary Squier and her HSD employees to provide proper notice of the 

addition or deletion of substantive provisions of the regulations invalidates the regulations 
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proposed.  Defendants Ward, Stevenson, DOH and HSD are implementing the provisions of the 

November 2012 regulations that were adopted in violation of NMSA 1978, § 12-8-4.  

173. DOH and Defendants Ward and Stevenson have issued a number of policies to 

implement the November 2012 regulations in violation of the Administrative Procedures Act.  

174. New Mexico law mandates that no proposed regulation affecting any person or agency 

outside the Department can be adopted without being properly promulgated 

175. The SIS algorithm and verification process directly affect DD Waiver participants, as 

they are part of the evaluation process that dictates what Medicaid services are available to them. 

176. HSD and DOH are required by New Mexico law to properly promulgate the SIS 

algorithm and verification process as regulations before implementing them.  The Defendants 

have failed to do so.  In order to properly promulgate these processes, the state must take certain 

steps.  

177. A regulation affecting any person or agency outside the Department can only be adopted 

after a public hearing on the matter.  NMSA 1978, § 9-8-6(E) No such hearing was held with 

regard to the SIS algorithm and verification process. 

178. Further, NMSA (1978) § 12-8-4(A)(3) requires that, “Upon adoption of a rule contested 

at hearing or otherwise, the agency shall issue a concise statement of its principal reasons for 

adoption of the rule and a statement of positions rejected in adopting the rule together with the 

reasons for the rejections.”  

179. Neither HSD nor DOH provided Plaintiffs or the public a reason for the adoption of any 

of these practices.  This failure is especially disturbing with respect to the normative table 

portion of the SIS process.  DOH relies almost exclusively on the mathematical formula 
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contained in the normative table to reduce critical services for some of the most significantly 

disabled persons in our state.  The normative table is not disclosed to participants in the SIS 

process unless they receive the Summary of Evidence for a requested fair hearing. 

180. Finally, in further violation of New Mexico law, neither HSD nor DOH filed the policies 

governing the normative table, SIS algorithm, and SIS verification process with the State Record 

Office or published them in the New Mexico Register.  NMSA 1978, § 14-4-5 states,  “No rule 

shall be valid or enforceable until it is filed with the records center and published in the New 

Mexico register as provided by the State Rules Act”. 

181. Defendants are unlawfully using both the SIS algorithm and the verification process to 

determine the level and kind of services Plaintiffs and others on the DD Waiver are to receive.  

Defendants’ failure to promulgate and publish the algorithm, normative table and the 

“verification process” renders them void because they violate state law.   

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF  

Violation Of The Freedom Of Choice Provisions Of The Medicaid Act 
 

182. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.   

183. Under the “freedom of choice” provision of the Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. § 

1396n(c)(2)(C), individuals with developmental disabilities, including the Plaintiffs, have, within 

cost limitations, freedom of choice regarding their services.  

184. Section 42 U.S.C. § 1396n (c)(2)(C), which focuses on Home and Community Based 

Services for individuals with disabilities, requires that the Defendants must guarantee that the 

Plaintiffs, and all individuals who are determined to be likely to require the level of care 

provided in a nursing home or ICF/MR are informed of the feasible alternatives to facility-based 
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care, if available under the state’s Waiver system.  Each individual Plaintiff is entitled to a choice 

between DD Waiver services in the community or nursing home services, or services in an 

ICF/MR.  42 U.S.C. § 1396(n); Application for 1915 (c) HCBS Waiver: NM. 0173.R05.00-Jul. 

01, 2011; at pg. 6 of 188. 

The individual Plaintiffs who have been assigned to SIS Group A or B, (S.F., D.S. and B.W.) 

are being denied freedom of choice in freely selecting either ICF/MR services or home and 

community based waiver services, in violation of their rights under the Medicaid Act.  All 

Medicaid recipients who are enrolled in the DD Waiver who were assigned to Group A or Group 

B are having their 24- hour family living services terminated by Defendants.  

185. The Defendants informed Plaintiffs of their two alternatives when the Plaintiffs entered 

the DD Waiver, but the November 2012 regulations leave them without any choice regarding 

where they can receive 24-hour services.  They can only receive 24-hour care in an ICF/MR, and 

may no longer receive 24-hour care through the DD Waiver. 

186. Due to the November 2012 regulations, Plaintiffs are left with no unimpaired “choice” 

between the Home and Community Based Waiver program and placement into an ICF/MR 

facility.  The Defendants’ elimination of the choice between an ICF/MR and the Home and 

Community Based Waiver services violates federal Medicaid law.  Defendants cannot 

categorically deny 24-hour community-based care to Plaintiffs, since they are eligible for such 

24-hour care in an ICF/MR facility.  

187. The Defendants are misusing the SIS assessment tool in such a way that individuals who 

are indisputably eligible for 24-hour care in an ICF/MR facility care are receiving SIS Group 
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assignments, making them ineligible to continue receiving twenty-four hour care in the 

community.  

188. Defendants have not asserted that expenditures for 24-hour community based care would 

exceed expenditures for similar services in an ICF/MR facility.  In fact, the ICF/MR services will 

be more expensive then the Plaintiffs’ current DD Waiver services.  The November 2012 

regulations have the practical effect of the SIS Group assignment effectively eliminating the 

Home and Community Based waiver option for hundreds of participants, including Plaintiffs. 

189.  The Defendants’ actions eliminating freedom of choice between the ICF/MR and Home 

and Community Based Waiver alternatives violate 42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(2)(C) of the Medicaid 

Act.  

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of the Americans With Disabilities Act  
and Section 504 Of the Rehabilitation Act Based on Lack of  

Available Integrated Setting 
 
190. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.   

191.  The Defendants have violated, and continue to violate, Title II of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act (“ADA”), which provides that “[n]o qualified individual with a disability shall, 

by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the 

services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by such 

entity.”  42 U.S.C § 12132 (2006).  

192. Each individual plaintiff (1) is a qualified individual with a disability, (2) who was 

excluded from participation in or denied the benefits of a public entity's services, programs, or 

activities.  The exclusion, denial of benefits, or discrimination was by reason of a disability. 
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193. Defendants’ actions also violate Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 

194. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act states as follows: “No otherwise qualified individual 

with a disability ... shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the 

participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 

activity receiving Federal financial assistance or under any program or activity conducted by any 

Executive agency or by the United States Postal Service.”  29 U.S.C. § 794(a).  

195. Each individual Plaintiff has a disability as defined by the Act, and is otherwise qualified to 

participate in the program. 

196. Each individual Plaintiff has one or more developmental disabilities which the Defendants 

have previously determined makes each Plaintiff eligible for 24-hour residential care in an 

ICF/MR, and each is challenging a discriminatory action by the Defendants that denies them the 

benefit of services provided by, or full participation in the benefits of, the State’s Medicaid-

funded services and specialized developmental disability services. 

197. The Defendants’ November 2012 regulations and the policies and practices followed by the 

Defendants since that time will result in the termination or significant reduction of services for 

hundreds of participants in the DD Waiver, including the individual Plaintiffs. 

198. Plaintiffs S.F., D.S. and B.W. have been assigned to SIS Groups which will terminate or 

reduce their residential services and reduce other DD Waiver services.  Those actions will 

deprive them of necessary Medicaid-funded services.  

199. Defendants are not reasonably accommodating the individual Plaintiffs’ developmental 

disabilities in their administration of the state Medicaid program.  
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200. As public entities, the Defendants are obligated to provide “services, programs, and 

activities in the most integrated setting appropriate” for qualified persons with disabilities.  28 

C.F.R. § 35.130(d).  

201. The November 2012 regulations and the Defendants’ related actions put the Plaintiffs at 

high risk for unnecessary or premature entry into ICF/MR facilities or nursing homes.  

202. Defendants’ November 2012 regulations unlawfully make it more likely that DD Waiver 

participants, including the individual Plaintiffs, will be institutionalized in order to continue 

receiving needed 24-hour developmental disabilities services. 

203. This result of probable institutionalization violated the Americans with Disabilities Act and 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. 

 

  

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of the Americans With Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 
Based on Discrimination Against Developmental Disability Waiver Medicaid Participants 

 
204. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

205. Because the November 2012 regulations at issue herein only apply to persons utilizing 

the DD Waiver, persons with developmental disabilities are being discriminated against, 

compared to other Medicaid participants. 

206. The November 2012 regulations single out people with developmental disabilities and deny 

them rights accorded to Medicaid recipients without disabilities or those with disabilities other 

than developmental disabilities. 
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207. The regulations and Defendants’ practices deny Plaintiffs and all DD Waiver recipients the 

Notice of Contemplated Action which is required by law, and which is provided to all other 

Medicaid recipients facing reductions or terminations of Medicaid-funded services. 

208. The procedures being followed by Defendants when a DD Waiver recipient requests a Fair 

Hearing also discriminate against Medicaid recipients with developmental disabilities. 

209. Medicaid recipients enrolled in the DD Waiver who request a “fair hearing” when the 

Defendants take an adverse action which reduces or terminates their DD Waiver services are 

being subjected to procedures and practices which are different than, and less fair, than the 

procedures provided to Medicaid recipients who do not have developmental disabilities.  

210. Defendants’ actions also have an unlawful and disparate impact on DD Waiver participants 

with severe disabilities.  The State’s reductions in the availability of direct care staff support, day 

services, therapies and of other services resulting from SIS Group assignments are having a 

disparate impact upon participants with severe disabilities.  

211. The November 2012 regulations deprive DD Waiver participants of the benefit of several 

rules that, until now, afforded reasonable accommodations to people with severe disabilities.  

Elimination of those rules constitutes unlawful discrimination.  The eliminated rules include the 

rules for allowing exceptions to presumptive limitations upon the amount of therapy hours, 

supported employment and behavior support provided to participants (8.314.5.9 NMAC), and the 

availability of “outlier services” (8.314.5.10 and 8.314.5.13 NMAC) for people with severe 

medical or behavioral disabilities. Until November 1, 2012, outlier services provided a 

reasonable accommodation for participants with extreme medical needs or behavioral issues that 

require more frequent and/or intense treatment.  
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212. Category H is designed to provide additional services to those participants who have been 

assigned a SIS group that has a base budget that is insufficient to meet their health and safety 

needs.  However, the Defendants are not using Category H properly.  There are no written 

criteria anywhere concerning the steps a participant needs to take in order to receive an H 

designation. Because of the Defendants’ failure to properly implement and administer the H 

Category, multiple Plaintiffs and other Medicaid participants have experienced confusion and 

delay concerning the H process. 

213. Because the current waiver offers no outlier services and no properly functioning H 

category, there is no reasonable accommodation available to DD Waiver participants with severe 

disabilities. 

214. Additionally, the service packages that have been implemented since November 2012 do 

not provide sufficient medically necessary services to certain people whose SIS scores placed 

them into a particular SIS group.  The Defendants are using criteria and methods of 

administration that have the effect of subjecting people with severe disabilities to unlawful 

discrimination. 

215. The November 2012 regulations and Defendants’ actions cause reductions in available 

services for Medicaid recipients with developmental disabilities.  For example, DD Waiver 

participants assigned to Groups A through D are being required to eliminate certain types of 

therapy services and some hours of their day services, even though those services are deemed by 

the participants’ treatment providers to be medically necessary. The Defendants themselves have 

deemed those services to be “medically necessary” until now.  For hundreds of individuals, 
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including the individual Plaintiffs, Defendants are now eliminating the medically necessary 

therapies they currently receive.   

216. Recipients assigned to Group A or B are being permitted to receive therapy from just one 

therapy discipline, irrespective of their actual needs.  Recipients who are now receiving more 

than one type of therapy are being required to completely terminate their ongoing therapies from 

all but one therapy discipline.  The scope of practice for each therapy discipline is proscribed by 

state law.  Thus, therapists licensed as physical therapists, for example, are prohibited from 

implementing the existing therapy plans authored by an occupational therapist or by a speech and 

language pathologist.  Current therapy plans are being abandoned, and services terminated, even 

though the Defendants themselves have deemed the services to be medically necessary.  Since 

the SIS regulations were implemented in November 2012, only persons with developmental 

disabilities face such categorical reduction in services.  All other Medicaid recipients have 

continued to receive services rendered in accordance with their medical needs as authorized 

under the previous Waiver.  

217. Defendants’ practices and regulations discriminate against all Medicaid DD Waiver 

participants as compared to other Medicaid recipients.  

218. Defendants’ practices and regulations discriminate against DD Waiver participants who are 

more severely disabled as compared to others.   

219. Each of these discriminations violates section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act and the ADA. 
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EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violation Of the Medicaid Act by HSD   
Based Upon Delegation of Authority and Discretion to DOH 

 

220. Plaintiffs incorporate the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.   

221. A provision of the Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a (a)(5), requires each state to designate 

a “single State agency” to administer its Medicaid plan and a regulation implementing the Act 

prohibits DOH from ‘chang[ing] or disapprov[ing] any administrative decision of HSD, the 

single state agency.”  42 C.F.R. § 431.10(e)(3).   

222. Only HSD’s extant Medicaid regulations can be applied to Medicaid recipients.  “Policies, 

rules, or regulations on program matters” which have been issued by DOH, or by any other agent 

of HSD, rather than by HSD itself, violate federal law.  Id.  

223. Federal law specifies that the single agency designated by the state must administer its 

Medicaid plan (42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(5)), and further, forbids the designated agency from 

delegating, except to its own officials, authority to exercise discretion in administering the plan.  

(42 C.F.R. § 431.10(e)(1)-(3) (1998).)  ”If other State . . . agencies or offices perform services 

for the Medicaid agency, they must not have the authority to change or disapprove any 

administrative decision of that agency, or otherwise substitute their judgment for that of the 

Medicaid agency with respect to the application of policies, rules, and regulations issued by the 

Medicaid agency.”  (42 C.F.R. § 431.10(e)(3) (1998).).  

224. The actions of Defendants Ward and Stevenson and other DOH employees deprived 

hundreds of DD Waiver recipients of medically necessary services, in violation of the federal 

requirement that prohibits DOH, or any other agent of HSD, from issuing “policies, rules, or 
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regulations on program matters” ‘chang[ing] or disapprov[ing] any administrative decision of 

HSD, the single state agency.”  42 C.F.R. § 431.10(e)(3).  Only HSD’s extant Medicaid 

regulations can be applied to Medicaid recipients.  

225. The imposition of DOH’s policies actions and regulations upon Plaintiffs and other DD 

Waiver recipients is a violation of the Medicaid Act. 

VI. RELIEF REQUESTED 
 

1. Issue a declaratory judgment pursuant to Sections 44-6-1 to 44-6-15 NMSA 1978 and 28 

U.S.C. § 2201, stating that Defendants’ alleged actions, policies, practices and procedures violate 

state and federal law. 

2. Issue an injunction prohibiting Defendants from implementing the November 1, 2012 

regulations establishing the SIS system.  

3. Issue an injunction prohibiting the Defendants from reducing or terminating any DD 

Waiver services without providing both notice and a fair hearing in the manner required by the 

Due Process Clause and the Medicaid Act.  

4. Issue an order requiring that Defendants reinstate all DD Waiver services reduced or 

terminated as a result of the November 1, 2012 regulations or of the policies, standards and 

practices implemented pursuant to the November 2012 regulations.  

5. Issue an Order requiring Defendants to provide DD Waiver services in accordance with 

the Due Process Clause and the Medicaid Act.  

6. Retain jurisdiction over this matter to ensure that the Defendants comply with any orders 

or relief granted by the Court. 
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7. Award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorney’s fees, expenses and costs incurred in this 

litigation pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, and the Americans 

with Disabilities Act. 

8. Provide any additional relief that the Court deems just and proper.  

 Respectfully Submitted by: 
 
SANDERS & WESTBROOK P.C. 
 
/s/ Maureen Sanders 
Maureen Sanders 
102 Granite Ave NW 
Albuquerque, NM 87102-2310 
(505) 243-2243 
(505) 243-2750 (Fax) 
Attorney for The Arc of New Mexico 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
 
 
DISABILITY RIGHTS NEW MEXICO 
 
/s/ Jason C. Gordon 
Jason C. Gordon 
Nancy Koenigsberg 
1720 Louisiana Blvd NE #204 
Albuquerque, NM 87110 
(505) 256-3100 
(505) 256-3184 (Fax) 
Attorneys for Disability Rights New Mexico 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 
LAW OFFICES OF NANCY L. SIMMONS P.C. 
 
 
/s/ Nancy L. Simmons 
Nancy L. Simmons 
120 Girard Blvd SE 
Albuquerque, NM 87106-2228 
(505) 232-2575 
(505) 232-2574 (Fax) 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
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